# GUILFORD COUNTY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES NC Cooperative Extension – Agricultural Center 3309 Burlington Road, Greensboro NC 27405

# April 12, 2023, 6:00 PM

## A. Roll Call

The following Board members were in attendance in person for this meeting:

James Donnelly, Chair; Guy Gullick, Vice Chair; David Craft; Dr. Nho Bui; Cara Buchanan; Sam Stalder; Ryan Alston; and Rev. Gregory Drumwright (Joined after the roll call and during the Public Hearing for Rezoning Case #23-1-PLBD-00035).

The following Board member was not in attendance at this meeting:

### Jason Little

The following Guilford County staff members were in attendance in-person for this meeting:

J. Leslie Bell, Planning and Development Director; Oliver Bass, Senior Planner; Aaron Calloway, Planner I; Rachel Teague, Office Specialist; Robert Carmon, Fire Inspections Chief; Andrea Leslie-Fite, Guilford County Attorney; and Matthew Mason, Chief Deputy County Attorney

### **B.** Agenda Amendments

None

## C. Approval of Minutes: January 11, 2023, and February 8, 2023

Mr. Donnelly indicated that he provided Mr. Bell some minor non-substantial comments to the January 11, 2023 minutes.

Ms. Buchanan moved to approve both the January 11, 2023 (as noted) and February 8, 2023 minutes, seconded by Mr. Gullick. The Board voted 7-0 in favor of the motion. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Buchanan, Craft, Bui, Alston, Stalder. Nays: None. Absent: Little, Rev. Drumwright).

### D. Rules and Procedures

Chair Donnelly provided information to everyone present regarding the Rules and Procedures followed by the Guilford County Planning Board.

## E. Continuance Requests

None

#### F. Old Business

None

### G. New Business

Legislative Hearing Item(s)

**REZONING CASE #23-1-PLBD-00035: AG, AGRICULTURAL, TO LI, LIGHT INDUSTRIAL: 107 MARSHALL SMITH ROAD** Located at 107 Marshall Smith Road (Guilford County Tax Parcel #170647 in Deep River Township), the subject of this request is approximately 290 feet north of the intersection of Marshall Smith Road and W. Market Street and comprises approximately 7.37 acres. (CONTINUED TO THE MAY 10, 2023 MEETING)

This is a request to rezone the property from AG, Agricultural, to LI, Light Industrial. The proposed rezoning is not consistent with the Guilford County Airport Area Plan recommendation of Mixed Use; therefore, if the request is approved, a plan amendment to Non-Residential will be required.

Aaron Calloway, Planning Department, stated that this property is located at 107 Marshall Smith Road (Guilford County Tax Parcel #170647 in Deep River Township and is approximately 290 feet north of the intersection of Marshall Smith Road and W. Market Street and comprises approximately 7.37 acres. There is no history of denied cases. This is a request to rezone the entirety of Guilford County Tax Parcel #170647 from AG, Agricultural, to LI, Light Industrial. The AG, Agricultural district is intended to provide locations for agricultural operations, farm residences, and farm tenant housing on large tracts of land. This district is further intended to reduce conflicts between residential and agricultural uses and preserve the viability of agricultural operations. Commercial agricultural product sales - "agritourism" - may be permitted. The minimum lot size of this district is 40,000 square feet. The LI, Light Industrial, district accommodates limited, small-scale manufacturing, wholesaling, research and development, and related commercial activities that have little adverse effect through noise, odor, or visual distraction on neighboring properties. Development shall provide adequate screening and buffers and be located where there are adequate public utilities and access to arterial streets and highways.

Pertinent information related to this request was included in the Board members' packets for their review.

### **Staff Recommendation**

Staff recommends approval of the request. The requested LI zoning is reasonable and in the public interest because the property is in proximity to commercial and industrial activity within the City of Greensboro. Additionally, the subject parcel is less than 300 feet away from the intersection of Marshall Smith Road and W. Market Street. As such, the infrastructural capacity at the site will be more than sufficient to facilitate light industrial uses. While the surrounding parcels within the County are zoned AG, the development around this portion of W. Market Street has been trending toward a growing industrial hub. Therefore, approval of this request will satisfy Policy 1.3.2 of the Governmental Coordination Element of the Guilford County Comprehensive Plan, which states that government entities within the County should coordinate comprehensive planning efforts for the promotion of complementary land use development patterns. The LI zoning district would be conducive for this area due to the availability of public water and sewer for future non-residential development and the general consistency of the request with the commercial and industrial uses around the W. Market Street

intersection. Therefore, associated light industrial uses would be complementary to existing development patterns. Area Plan Amendment Recommendation: The proposed rezoning is not consistent with the Airport Area Plan recommendation of Mixed Use, thus if approved, an Area Plan amendment to Non-Residential will be required.

Chair Donnelly stated that one of the things the Board would be looking at tonight is what kind of regulatory protections there are in a case where there is Light Industrial property adjacent to Agricultural property. He asked staff what kind of buffers would be in place separating those two (2) areas.

Aaron Calloway responded that the buffering requirements would be pretty substantial because this would be a non-residential use, and particularly in the LI zoning district abutting AG or RS zoning. It would require a Type A planting yard buffer, which has a minimum width of 40' along the property lines. When a site plan would be submitted to staff for review, they would ensure that all the property lines where they would be abutting an AG or RS zoning district, would comply with the minimum of 40' of buffering. The buffering language also addresses the types of trees and how many would be required within that 40' of buffering.

Mr. Craft asked if there was any discussion with the City of Greensboro about water and sewer service pertaining to this request? Aaron Calloway stated that he has had conversations with their staff, and access to water and sewer for this property will be contingent upon a voluntary annexation because this property is within the Growth Tier 1.

Reverend Drumwright asked if the applicant had held any meetings with the public in regard to this request? Aaron Calloway stated that this is the public meeting.

Chair Donnelly stated that the Board will now open the Public Hearing portion and asked the applicant and any others speaking in favor of the request to come forward for their presentation. With a show of hands there were approximately 2-3 people present in favor of the request. There were approximately 3-6 people present in opposition to the request.

Chair Donnelly reminded everyone that there was a total of 20 minutes for each side to make their comments.

## In Favor:

Oscar Threatt, 5010 Shady Grove Lane, Greensboro, NC, stated that he would like to build a 10,000 square foot building/warehouse on the property. The use would have minimal traffic, mostly in the daytime and would not interfere with the traffic pattern very much at all.

Chair Donnelly stated that when the Board considers a zoning case, they consider whether or not it is consistent with the existing land use plan and/or whether or not it is reasonable and in the public interest. In this case, there is actually a plan change that would be required, and he wanted to know why the applicant wanted this use on this particular part of the land, which would be slightly out of character with what the long-range land use plan has indicated. Mr. Threatt responded that he has a couple of properties in the area that are Light Industrial, and he would like to continue that use. Mr. Gullick asked if there was a specific use that Mr. Threatt has planned for the property? Mr. Threatt responded that anything in Light Industrial would work as a 10,000 square foot building would probably take up two (2) of the seven (7) acres. Other uses would be determined at a later date. Mr. Craft asked if there was a plan for water and sewer on the property? Mr. Threatt stated that sewer is not available, and it would

have to be septic tank. It could be a well or City water is available [on] the street. Reverend Drumwright asked if the applicant plans to meet with his neighbors to explain the use of the property and the proposed 10,000 square foot building. Mr. Threatt stated that he has not done that, and he didn't know that he should, but he would be willing to do so. He thought that the sign the County put out had all the information and his phone number in case somebody wanted to call him with questions. No one has contacted him. Mr. Bell indicated that the phone number on the sign was to the County Planning Department.

Chair Donnelly stated that it is typical for the Planning Staff to suggest a meeting as a way to try to ensure that development happens in concert with the interest of a property owner, as well as the neighbors. In light of the fact that the applicant has not held a meeting, he asked if the applicant would be willing to continue the request to the next meeting to give time for a meeting with the neighbors? Mr. Threatt stated that he would be willing to do that.

Chair Donnelly stated that, to be clear, the Board would expect the applicant to hold a meeting with the neighbors to obtain their input and concerns. Mr. Bell stated that there would need to be a motion that the applicant wishes to continue the request.

Mr. Craft moved to approve the applicant's request to continue this matter to the May 10, 2023 meeting to give the applicant time to speak with the neighbors in a community meeting, seconded by Mr. Alston. The Board voted unanimously 8-0, in favor of the motion to **continue the request**. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Craft; Bui; Buchanan; Alston; Stalder; Drumwright. Nays: None.)

Chair Donnelly stated that a staff member will be available in the lobby to obtain names and contact information, so that everyone can be notified of the future community meeting.

### Evidentiary Hearing Item(s)

**SPECIAL USE PERMIT CASE #23-03-PLBD-00039:** ENERGY SUBSTATION (MAJOR UTILITY); 1872 ANDREWS FARM RD, (Guilford County Tax Parcel #229086 in Jefferson Township) at the northwest intersection of McConnell Road and comprises approximately 12.53 acres. The subject parcel is zoned AG, Agricultural. (REQUEST DENIED)

This is a request for approval of a Special Use Permit for an Energy Substation and the associated Sketch Site Plan. Energy substations are allowed as a Major Utility in the AG district pursuant to the Guilford County Unified Development Ordinance.

Chair Donnelly explained the rules for holding an Evidentiary Hearing and stated that the Board is to make a determination of whether the Permit can be issued based on competent, substantial, and material evidence. The Chair opened the Evidentiary Hearing and asked that those speaking today be sworn or affirmed for their testimony. All speakers were sworn or affirmed at this time.

Mr. Gullick disclosed that he understood that Parker Poe is a firm working on this case. He stated that his daughter works for the Raleigh office of Parker Poe, however, the County attorney has confirmed that it is not a conflict for him to participate in this case.

Chair Donnelly invited Oliver Bass, Senior Planner, to present the staff report on the Special Use Permit.

Oliver Bass, Senior Planner, in presenting the staff report, stated that this property is located at 1872 Andrews Farm Road (Guilford County Tax Parcel #229086 in Jefferson Township), at its northwest intersection with McConnell Road, and comprises approximately 12.53 acres. The subject parcel is zoned AG, Agricultural. There is no history of denied cases.

This is a request for approval of a Special Use Permit for an Energy Substation and the associated Sketch Site Plan. Energy substations are allowed as a Major Utility in the AG district pursuant to the Guilford County Unified Development Ordinance. The subject parcel is in an area that is mainly single-family residential on subdivided lots and includes a major residential subdivision off Andrews Farm Road. A 95-acre tract west of the site is undeveloped but has an approved Special Use Permit for a Solar Collector, Principal.

Pertinent information related to this request was included in the Board members' packets for their review.

## **Staff Comments**

Oliver Bass stated that during consideration of a Special Use Permit, the Planning Board must determine that the following Findings of Fact have been satisfied based upon relevant and credible evidence presented during the hearing:

- 1. A written application was submitted and is complete in all respects;
- 2. That the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and developed according to the plan submitted;
- 3. The use, Energy Substation (Major Utility) subject to the submitted Sketch Site Plan along with the following proposed conditions: (as presented or agreed to by applicant), for which the Special Use Permit is sought, is in conformance with all special requirements applicable to this use. The use meets all required conditions and specifications;
- 4. That the location and character of the use, if developed according to the plan submitted, will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located and is in general conformity with the plan of development of the Jurisdiction and its environs; and
- 5. That the use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, or that the use is a public necessity.

After reviewing the proposed development plan for this request, staff offers the following for Planning Board consideration:

- 1. The development of the parcel shall comply with all regulations as specified in the Guilford County Unified Development Ordinance (GCUDO).
- 2. The development shall proceed in conformity with all amended plans and design features submitted as part of the Special Use Permit Application and kept on file by the Guilford County Planning and Development Department.
- 3. The development shall proceed upon approval of plan and design features by the Technical Review Committee (TRC), illustrating conditions related to the request and applicable development standards.
- 4. Added conditions, if applicable.

- Page 6
- 5. If the specified conditions addressed in this Special Use Permit are violated, the permit shall be revoked, and the use will no longer be allowed. Only by reapplying to the Planning Board for another Special Use Permit and receiving its approval can the use be again permitted.

TRC comments on 1872 Andrews Farm Road Sketch Plan Duke Energy Transfer Station are provided in the Planning Board meeting packet for this case:

Chair Donnelly explained that the decision will be based on the evidence presented to the Planning Board as a part of the hearing. Chair Donnelly asked for those speaking on behalf of the applicant to come forward.

Attorney Fox, attorney representing the applicant, Duke Energy, presented an Exhibit Book to the Board members to follow during the presentation. He asked that the Exhibit Book be entered into evidence for the purposes of this hearing. The Exhibit Book includes the Special Use Permit application; the PowerPoint presentation and various diagrams that show the site, the aerial view, the zoning of adjacent parcels; the Site Plan for the proposed sub-station; and a detail of applicant materials that demonstrate each element of the five (5) findings that the Board is required to find as they consider the application. Attorney Fox introduced several subject matter experts that may be called to speak on this request and are available for questions. Attorney Fox emphasized that the Guilford County UDO indicates that one of the findings of fact states "That the use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, or that the use is a public necessity."

Attorney Fox stated that this application is one that is a public necessity because the area in which the current substation serves has experienced issues with the service. The capacity of this substation is challenged, and the need for a new substation is dictated by the failings of that current substation equipment. Also, there is a need to increase and produce reliability for the production of electricity in this area in the future.

Attorney Fox stated that the Exhibit Book shows that the Guilford County standards have been met for the request, and he went through and explained their qualifications for same. He pointed out that the Ordinance provides for the use of electric substations in all the zoning districts, but it does require a Special Use Permit process to occur and be approved pursuant to the process.

Tom Hahn, Senior Siting Lead with Jacobs Engineering, presented a PowerPoint presentation. He explained that he has about 17 years of experience in linear siting and permitting associated with the request. He stated that Mr. Bass had already covered the high points of the request in the staff presentation. He then walked through the application and pointed out how they have met all the requirements for approval of the request. He explained that there is the Cover Letter, the Statement of Justification, and all pertinent signatures needed for the application.

Chris Cleary, Siting Manager employed by Duke Energy, stated that there is a draft site plan and draft sketch map included in the packet. The sketch plan shows the land use, the zoning, property ownership adjoining the proposed parcel, and watershed (also indicated on the draft site plan).

Mr. Craft asked whether right-of-way would have to be acquired? Mr. Cleary responded that they do not have that information at this time. The first step is to acquire the Special Use Permit, and once that is achieved they then will consider the right-of-way acquisition process. In response to a question posed by Chair Donnelly in regard to the 100-kV(kilovolt) substation request being near an unlimited kV

transmission line, Mr. Cleary stated that he could speak to that from a siting standpoint, but not from an engineering standpoint, as that is not his subject matter. From a siting standpoint, they looked at a lot of different areas for the substation location. The Development Planning Group is presented with a general area, and the substation location is usually within two miles of that area. There is a multi-step process of looking at substation sites and looking at constraints in the area. Chair Donnelly asked if this substation would tap into that 100-kV line that is nearby at some point in time? Mr. Cleary stated that he could not answer that at this time because they have not gotten to that step yet.

John Schultis, the Principal in Charge for Jacobs, stated that in regard specifically to the 100-kV transmission line question, they have not sited the 100-kV transmission line yet, so the distance of that line is unknown at this time. The substation will require a 100-kV power source that will be powered by a future transmission line that will hopefully be sited to the nearest 100-kV transmission line available. Atty. Anthony Fox pointed out that the Ordinance regulates the location of electric substations and does not regulate transmission line locations.

Mr. Gullick asked Mr. Hahn if, in looking under Tab D on the aerial view for site K, it shows the buffer surrounding the property and actually shows on all four sides. On the site plan under Tab E, the buffer tends to go around the back of the substation where there are two (2) entry roadways, and he pointed out that is not really buffered and in driving by you would just be looking in at the substation. Mr. Hahn responded that there would be remaining tree cover on the western, northern, and eastern sides, and it will be buffered as shown on the site plan. Page 7 of 11 of the Applicant's Submittal Materials shows that Duke Energy research shows that "It is not feasible or safe to install vegetative screening and buffering on McConnell Road directly in front of the substation. Such vegetative screening would prevent access to the substation and interfere with the operation and maintenance of the distribution structures; however, tree cover will remain on either side of the distribution line along McConnell Road, which will help blend the substation in its environs." There are distribution lines drawn that go from the middle of the substation down toward McConnell Road. There would be an 8' chain-link fence, topped by 3-strand barbed-wire.

Mr. Alston asked, if approved by the Board, would the applicant be open to a contingency that there would not be any further construction on that particular lot, and would the substation be manned or unmanned? Mr. Hahn responded that the sole use of the property is for the substation, and there are no plans for any other construction. The substation would be unmanned except for times where there would be maintenance calls to the property. Mr. Craft asked if they wanted to enlarge the substation, would that require another Special Use Permit? Mr. Bell responded that it would require another Special Use Permit if there is a substantial change while minor modifications are allowed, and that is defined in the Ordinance.

Ms. Buchanan asked how tall a typical substation is? Mr. Cleary stated that from experience transmission line height varies between 150 and 185 feet, but the height of a substation is typically shorter and therefore shorter than the existing vegetation on the site. No decision has been made on the characteristic of the transmission line. Design will be determined after a site study.

Rev. Drumwright asked if there had been any community meetings with the neighbors of this property to give people an opportunity to voice their concerns and/or questions? Atty. Anthony Fox stated that when they start having discussions about the routing of the transmission line, they will address the neighbors at that time. They have not held a community meeting for the substation siting at this time.

Chair Donnelly asked what measures Duke Energy uses to assess the reliability scale that has been referred to? Mr. Hahn stated that the Distribution Planner will present the purpose and need at the beginning of the siting process, and a lot of these things have been discussed (e.g., talking about overloaded circuits, etc.). They look into the future and noted that by 2026, at least one of the circuits is anticipated to be overloaded. They ultimately look to improve the reliability by trying to relieve those overloads, as they tend to lead to outages. By building a substation, it would hopefully relieve the outage situations and provide resiliency into the system. Chair Donnelly asked what the standards of reliability actually are? Mr. Hahn stated that they present charts that show overloaded circuits, and if it seems to be somewhere over 95%, it raises a red flag, and they want to stay under that amount. Atty. Anthony Fox referred to page 3 of 11 of the Applicant's Submittal Materials that referenced an incident in 2017-2018, where the maximum capacity of circuit 1201 peaked in the winter of that year due to extreme cold temperatures.

Dr. Bui asked if the proposed new substation would be an improvement to the circuits, and if this substation is built now, would they have to come back again at some point in time to either expand the substation or look for another location for a bigger substation? Atty. Anthony Fox stated that would need to be answered by a Distribution Planner, and that person is not here tonight.

Mr. Alston stated that he realizes the applicant has their own procedures to go through, but this seems to be a bit counter-productive for the Board to approve something like this when they don't feel as though they have all of the information for future needs. It puts the surrounding community in an awkward position because they don't know what the future may hold for them. He is concerned about a lack of engineering questions that the applicant cannot answer at this time. He feels that maybe it would be better to continue the request until more information can be clarified.

Atty. Anthony Fox stated that they would be able to get the information the Board might need to answer their questions. They are attempting to demonstrate a demand occurrence that created questions of reliability and the need to try to address that to provide a valuable service for the population and the proposed growth that is occurring in this area and will continue to occur.

Rev. Drumwright stated that because of all the interest this request has generated, he feels it would have been important for Duke Energy to reach out to the community to have discussions about their plans for the proposed substation, because they should certainly have the opportunity to voice their concerns and questions before this meeting occurred. The neighborhood will certainly be impacted by the proposed substation in this area. Atty. Anthony Fox stated that he cannot speak for his client on that point, but he can certainly raise the question if that is something that the Board feels is beneficial and helpful. He stated that if the Board would like to take a short recess, he would certainly be willing to do so.

Chair Donnelly stated that it is his perception that the business before the Board tonight is to respond to a specific Special Use Permit and respond to the evidence that is presented today, to demonstrate the suitability, or lack thereof, for this substation relative to the parameters that are outlined in the Guilford County Ordinance. While this is certainly interesting and important for the community, it may fall outside of the bounds of what the Board has the ability to incorporate as a part of its decision, because this is an Evidentiary Hearing, so he feels that they need some clarification of whether or not that evidence has standing for the Board to consider in this particular case. Atty. Andrea Leslie-Fite, legal counsel for Guilford County, stated that what the Chair has described is the proof-positive type of examples of the difference between quasi-judicial proceeding versus a regular hearing. Evidence related to those factors are extremely important, not to foreclose any conversations that those folks want to have independently. The Board's standards are purely evidentiary and based on those factors.

At this time, Chair Donnelly suggested that the Board take a ten-minute recess. Mr. Stalder moved to take a ten-minute break, seconded by Mr. Gullick. The Board voted unanimously 8-0, in favor of the motion to **continue the request**. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Craft; Bui; Buchanan; Alston; Stalder; Drumwright. Nays: None.)

Mr. Bell reminded the Board about *ex parte* communication during the recess. Atty. Leslie-Fite also followed up and reminded the Board to refrain from having conversations with anyone in the audience about the case during the recess.

\*There was a break from 7:50 p.m. until approximately 8:03 p.m., when the meeting proceedings resumed.

Atty. Anthony Fox asked that the Exhibit Book be admitted into evidence. Chair Donnelly responded that the Board would certainly consider accepting the Exhibit Book as evidence for this hearing.

Mr. Stalder moved to accept the Exhibit Book into evidence, seconded by Dr. Bui. The Board voted unanimously 8-0, in favor of the motion to **admit the Exhibit Book into evidence**. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Craft; Bui; Buchanan; Alston; Stalder; Drumwright. Nays: None.)

Chair Donnelly asked for those wishing to speak in opposition to the request to come forward with their questions or concerns. Speakers were invited to come forward and share with the Board information that would be considered relevant to what has been heard from Duke Power. They were asked to share their name and address and comments and were advised there may be some questions from the Board members.

John Goodman, 5107 Zante Road, Whitsett, NC, was previously sworn in/or affirmed, and stated that there has been no communication from Duke Energy or the representatives concerning this request. He only found out about it earlier this afternoon and felt that he should attend this hearing. He owns property that adjoins the proposed substation property to the west. He also owns a house and property just up the road. There is a 100-kV power line, which are big steel towers with big wires on them. He is an electrical engineer and graduated from NC State University in 1972. He worked 28 years for DuPont and was a Principal Engineer with them. He is also an advanced class amateur radio operator since 1981. He pointed out that these large power towers and lines are in his front yard. He feels that Duke Energy is getting the cart before the horse as they are trying to get a substation and then trying to get the towers placed. He feels they should ask for the towers first, then build the substation. There are 25 homes within sight of this substation. He was told by the surveyor when he purchased his property that nobody owns the right-of-way there. His property "N" [as shown on the County's map] does not perk, and property "B" [as shown on the County's map] does not perk, and his home on Zante Road does not perk. He has a septic lot on the hill across the road that he has to pump his sewage to. He pointed out that there is a historical structure (log cabin) on the subject property. It is starting to cave in and deteriorate but it is the old Mary Brookshire homeplace. There used to be several other log-type structures on the property, and one of the heirs tore those down. As an amateur radio operator, he would not want to live

near a high voltage line, as it is a proven fact that electromagnetic fields (EMF) from those power lines have possibly caused cancer. He certainly would not want any children exposed to those high voltage lines because of the radio frequencies (RF) from the towers. He has never seen or heard of 100-kV underground; it's always on the tall poles and large wires to carry the electrical current. The Special Use Permit would ruin this neighborhood for those 25 families in the immediate area. There is a lift station on Stewart Mill Road where the City took over the whole development of 25-30 acres or more, and there is not a single residential home within sight of that lift station. Why can't they build the substation down there? He does not want to have this in his front or back yards with the high voltage lines running overhead. Chair Donnelly asked Mr. Goodman if he had any information that he could introduce to the Board to consider as he talked about the EMF? Mr. Goodman stated that he did not have it with him, but he can find something that he could introduce if another meeting is held. He did point out that there has been proof that walkie-talkies and cell phones can cause cancer because of the radiation.

Chair Donnelly asked about the historical building on the site. Mr. Bass responded that the staff report was speaking about registered or landmark historical sites. Mr. Goodman pointed out that they could put the substation out at the end of McConnell Road where there are industrial or commercial uses instead of near residential properties.

Lisa Jordan, 5052 McConnell Road, who was previously sworn in/or affirmed stated that her property is right across the street. The letter she got was postmarked the 29<sup>th</sup>. She does not know anything about planning or zoning law, so she doesn't know if she was supposed to send the letter back or anything. She moved to her property 18 years ago in the County so they could get away from the city. They don't want the noise, don't want the lights, don't want traffic, or construction. Most people don't even know where Whitsett is, and that's why she moved out there. She likes the wildlife, the environment, and there would be an environmental impact to the animals and nature. The applicant cannot assure her that their lights won't shine right across the road to her property, and there won't be some residual effect with regard to looking at the night sky and being able to see the stars. She agreed with Mr. Goodman that all this building is coming this way, and they didn't ask for it. The big corporations don't seem to want to have a conversation with the neighborhood residents. The access road would be right across the street from her, and there are already 18-wheelers going up and down McConnell Road and disturbing people who live there. She goes to work every day, and she wants to come home to peace, quiet, her quality of life, and her overall well-being. She wants to enjoy her yard without looking at some overhead wires and towers and any possible noise. They don't know what effects there will be to the environment or people's health. They don't know for sure if the trees will cover the substation or not. There are several other places that the substation could be located instead of right across from her. She does not want it there and is opposed to it. She also is opposed to the possibility of eight or more months of construction in the area if this SUP is approved. Trees will be cut down, and there will be additional traffic in the area.

Jan Grafton, 1824 Andrews Farm Road, was previously sworn in/or affirmed and stated that she agrees with what Ms. Jordan and Mr. Goodman have said. Those signs were put up two weeks ago, and they did not receive the letter that was sent out to some people. She said with all the available land in this area, why do they want to choose where there are houses in a residential neighborhood to build an eyesore? It makes more sense to put the substation out near Interstate 85 and the industrial area, out that way.

Alex Elkin, attorney with Brooks Pierce Law Firm in Greensboro, stated that he is representing Dianne Cornish, who owns the 12 acres immediately north of the subject property on property labeled "B" [as shown on the County's map]. He would suggest that they are asking for a free pass. Mr. Alston and the

## 4/12/23

people in the neighborhood have it right. Duke Energy should have to prove at this hearing with substantial and competent evidence, as it is their obligation to do, that there is a public need. They told you that they don't have to get the certificate from the Utility Commission, that flies under the radar there, so they need to come here and prove to you that there is a public need. You have heard testimony that there is other property available for this substation. He would submit that what the Board has heard is hearsay and not substantial evidence of the need for a substation even in this area. The applicant pointed out that there was a deficit about six years ago at one time, and they are now trying to roll that and tell the Board that there is the need for a 100-kV substation here. They need to prove that there is a need for a substation in this area to meet energy demand, but they also need to show the Board that there is a need for this property to be used in this manner; and, they have fallen woefully short of that. They have not even attempted to prove that there is not going to be a significant detrimental impact on nearby property values. They talked about light and noise and buffers, but there was no appraiser; nobody came and said when you have a substation within 200 feet of an adjacent residential property, there is no impact on property values. So, there is no way that they have proven one of the requirements, #4, "that the use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting properties" or that the use is a public necessity. It is hearsay that maybe you need a substation here because previously six years ago there was a deficiency. They do not even attempt to show that this is in keeping and in harmony with the neighborhood, as it clearly is not in harmony with the residential area. Applicant's attorney would also have you believe that you cannot or should not consider the ancillary power lines that will be required if this use is allowed to go forward. He agrees with Mr. Alston that the Board does not have the information to make the determination. This Board should not give them a free pass and should hold them to the proof requirements of the Ordinance for substantial and competent evidence of each of the elements to obtain a Special Use Permit. He would suggest that this application be denied. Dr Bui asked Mr. Elkin what was the main concern for his client? Mr. Elkin stated that his client's main concern was about the negative impact on property values and how it will impact her ability to utilize her property.

Juan Vasquez, 1858 Andrews Farm Road, previously sworn in, stated that his property is north of letter "B" [as shown on the County map] of the subject property. He saw the sign on the road and called to get more information and provided the case number. When he spoke with someone on staff and asked what was being proposed, the response was, "Well, nothing at this point, it's just a permit." And he stated that he would like to get more information about it because he wanted to know what is going on. And the person indicated, "Well, you have to come to the hearing to get the details." He is here now and getting all these surprises. There is something off about the notification process and the information that is provided to the public that makes him wonder why he couldn't get the information he called about. Separate from that, he just found it very interesting that the applicant comes with a PowerPoint presentation with the binders and all the pictures and drawings trying to justify the need, but the reality is that it is like they are trying to create the need of the power lines, but they really don't know, and they don't want to talk about the power lines, and they hide behind that just to create the need for the power lines. Of course, if they build that substation there, they will need to run it, it will need power to run, and that will be the Phase B. He is sure or confident that they do know the plan for the power lines because nobody builds anything or proposes something like this without being prepared. He certainly would not purchase a property without knowing whether the property would perk for residential use or not. He feels that they came with a bunch of pictures and words but not actual facts. He wants to know what is the evidence that proves that there is a true need.

Rebecca Stafford, 5032 McConnell Road, previously sworn in, stated that she had not planned to say anything, but the house she lives in, has been there since she was three years old. She moved away and

went to college, taught school in Stoneville and lived in Eden, but she knew she was coming back home. Her father built this house and worked hard, and there are approximately ten acres. Across the road is a field that does not perk, and she is glad because no one would move there. There are a lot of deer, a pet fox that brings her babies to visit, raccoons, and they accept the coyotes, wild turkeys, Guineas, and it is tranquility to look out and see all this wildlife. This substation will certainly screw up this tranquility where she was raised. She cannot explain what this country living is like.

John Goodman returned to the speaker's stand and stated that he is an electrical engineer, and he has lived in his house on 5107 Zante Road since 2003. He knew the city was going to come into this area, but he never thought there would be a substation on the corner lot in this area. He would like for the Board to consider how intrusive it would be to this residential area with the big power lines. He challenged the Board members to drive around and look at other substations and see if they would want that near their homes. It is an eyesore and the neighbors do not want this substation in their neighborhood. This will destroy their neighborhood.

Joy Landers, 5106 McConnell Street, previously sworn in, stated that her property is to the right of letter "H" [as shown on the County map]. They did not receive any information about this hearing or what Duke Energy is planning. The proposed substation would directly impact their home. She asked that the Board consider denying this request and choose a location that is not in a residential neighborhood.

Tonya Roberts, 1873 Andrews Farm Road, previously sworn in, stated that they have lived here for the past 18 years. She is concerned about the health risks that are involved, given the reports that have been in the news over the past ten years, and they keep rising with things that have happened to areas such as substations and the effects that happen to the surrounding areas. They feel it would be a major impact to the community. They are also concerned about that substation being attacked like the one in a nearby County a couple of months ago. There is no assurance that Duke Energy is going to have measures in place for their safety, and the dangers that are in line with the substation. They are concerned about emissions, radiation, and other environmental issues.

John Goodman returned to the speaker's stand and stated that he is also a licensed real estate broker in the state of North Carolina, and he can say, without a doubt, that if the substation goes in that property, it will certainly hurt the value of all the homes in that area. Atty. Anthony Fox confirmed for the record the real estate broker license presented by Mr. Goodman and asked about his qualification as a licensed appraiser. Mr. Goodman indicated that he was not a licensed real estate appraiser.

### **Rebuttal in Favor:**

Atty. Anthony Fox stated that he would like the Board to not consider the testimony from Mr. Goodman in regard to a decrease in property values in the area if the substation is allowed. He stated that Mr. Goodman is not a licensed Appraiser and has not reviewed appraised properties around other subdivisions or this subdivision with regard to his determination in stating a property value of homes in this area. These types of decisions are difficult, but growth creates these kinds of issues for communities. The growth here has dictated the need for a substation which is proposed to address the need and the development of this area. This is a quasi-judicial hearing, and the challenge and direction for this Board is to base a decision solely on the evidence that has been presented. The evidence submitted has been primarily presented by Duke Energy. The Board has heard the residents speak and they have concerns about the nature and wildlife that lives around them, they have talked about the tenure of how long they have lived there, they've talked about their preference that this use go elsewhere and not in their neighborhood, they have talked about how change is affecting them, and they prefer not to have change.

He feels that is not competent material and substantial evidence for the five (5) findings that the Board must make.

The Board, by the Ordinance, should be guided by the factors that this Ordinance and the governing body has set out for the determination of a Special Use Permit for an electric substation. Those factors are whether there was a completed application, and there is no dispute that there is a completed application before this Board.

The second finding is whether or not the use will materially endanger public health or safety if located where proposed and developed according to the plans submitted. The overwhelming evidence, that is competent material, is the evidence that is contained in the showing of Duke Energy that there will not be a material injury to public health and safety. The evidence shows that on the site plan, it is 1.9 acres of a 12.53-acre site, it is completely fenced, it is situated off the road, and it is in a forested tract of land. They would submit that that finding in the evidence will support a finding in the affirmative as to those criteria.

The use as an electric substation for which the Special Use Permit is being sought is in conformance with all Special Use requirements applicable to the use. County staff went through the application and did not indicate any non-conformance of the application, and they did give some development factors, which Duke Energy committed to meet and comply with at the appropriate time. Most of those development factors occur after the site plan is finalized and before the Technical Review Committee. They would submit that has been met. On the other hand, there has been no evidence that has not been met. There has been no evidence from any of the neighbors with regards to the failure to comply with the requirements of the Guilford County Ordinance.

Regarding the location and character of the use, if developed according to the plans, will be in harmony with the area in which it is located and general conformity with the plan of development. The Board has heard testimony about the solar farm and that solar farm abuts this site and is 470 acres of use there. The evidence provides that this was an agriculturally-zoned area of the County. There are residential uses on the other side of the road, but for the area for which this site is located, the 12.53 acres and the 470 acres, the whole of those properties is zoned agricultural in use. It is for the Board to find that harmony exists between a substation that is proposed and the current solar farm use that this Board has recently approved.

With regard to the finding that the use will not injure the value of adjoining or abutting property [or] the use is a public necessity, the attorney from Brooks Pierce did raise the question of whether or not it injures the value of adjoining and abutting property and whether or not it is a public necessity. The Ordinance merely provides that the use is a public necessity and does not talk about where the public necessity is located and does not limit it to the lot or the area. It talks about the need of this community to accommodate the growth and development that is occurring in this community and the need for this community to make sure that there are electric generation power capabilities that are reliable. The overwhelming evidence - material, competent, substantial evidence - that is before the Board demonstrates that this is indeed a public necessity based upon an overload of the current substation that is 0.66 miles away, based upon a 2017 incident, in which there was a peak based upon weather conditions, and we need to guard against those capabilities. The public necessity is also evidenced by some of the discussion included in their materials, and they say that the public necessity is necessary for the County to maintain a reliable electric supply and to promote development. He asked that the Board look at what the standards are and affirm the application of Duke Energy for the SUP.

He would also ask that, I know there was concern about the transmission lines, but that is not before this Board. If your governing body had wanted transmission lines to be considered as an element of this review, they would have incorporated it in your Ordinance, your UDO, and it's not a part of that for this hearing.

Mr. Craft wanted to confirm that it is the testimony of Duke Energy that a study or studies have been done, and that the current substation situation in that area will max out in 2026? Atty. Anthony Fox responded that is the representation that they have made in this application, and yes, studies have been done establishing that. Mr. Craft stated that this area is growing, but is it the testimony that there are two (2) Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) coming to that area? Atty. Anthony Fox stated that is the testimony and that is part of the evidence showing that they have provided to this Board.

Rev. Drumwright pointed out, again, that he feels that it is very important that the surrounding residents have an opportunity to give input about their concerns and objections.

Mr. Drumwright asked a question of staff stating that standard #4 uplifts the harmony and noting that the applicant has been forthcoming that conversations with [the] community is not something required by procedure. If this site is within 200-400 feet from adjacent residents and the residents find complication around the placement of this site, what is to be considered regarding the harmony of its use where there is land all around the site? Planning Director Bell stated that you go where the evidence leads you to go.

## Rebuttal in opposition:

Juan Vasquez returned to the speaker's stand and stated that he is an ordained minister, but he is also an auditor for the federal government. One of the things that was highlighted by the proponent was the importance of the evidence, and he remembers that earlier in this hearing, they were saying that the distribution lines were not a topic to be addressed by the Board. But when they were trying to justify the reason why they chose this site, they are actually saying that the distribution lines are an important factor. Earlier they said they have no clue, at this point, where those distribution lines are going to be. Now, they are saying that the distribution lines were considered, and he wants to know which answer is correct? Do they know or not?

Alex Elkin, attorney for a property owner, returned to the speaker's stand and stated that when the applicant spoke, they described the applicant's burden of proof which is in the Ordinance, "The applicant bears the burden of submitting competent, substantial material evidence, establishing (more likely than not) each of the five (5) requirements for approval. If they fail to submit sufficient evidence, the request should be denied." He would submit that this is where they are, they have not submitted sufficient evidence as to the two (2) elements that he spoke about earlier: 1) "That the use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting properties." There has been no competent evidence demonstrating that from the applicant; or 2) That the use is a public necessity. This Board is not the Utilities Commission trying to determine that there is a public necessity for a substation. He would submit that is part of the evidence they should have provided to the Board. He does not feel that they have met the burden of proof on this application, and the application should be denied.

Chair Donnelly asked for a motion to close the Evidentiary Hearing.

Mr. Gullick moved to close the Evidentiary Hearing, seconded by Mr. Stalder. The Board voted unanimously 8-0, in favor of the motion to close the Evidentiary Hearing. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Craft; Bui; Buchanan; Alston; Stalder; Drumwright. Nays: None.)

### **Board Discussion:**

Chair Donnelly stated that what is incumbent on the Board is to determine whether the evidence that has been presented is substantial against each of the five (5) criteria.

Rev. Drumwright stated that he would like to know if the other Board members have already decided on this matter or are they still on the fence? Chair Donnelly stated that Reverend Drumwright could ask, but he could not compel anyone to answer it. Rev. Drumwright stated that the Board has heard the testimony and unless there is someone who would like to talk about it some more, he would like to move to close the discussion period and to vote.

Chair Donnelly responded that the way they typically close the discussion period would be to offer a motion. Certainly, if someone is willing to do that, and the motion is seconded, then it would move forward for a vote.

Atty. Leslie-Fite stated that because this is a quasi-judicial meeting, it is very important that the Board build the record through their discussions and hearing the evidence, and they need to weigh that evidence as part of the discussion, and that will be the basis for a motion.

Mr. Craft stated that he would like to speak to one of the items - substantial injury to neighboring property values. Neither party provided a licensed appraisal or an appraiser to come before the Board to answer questions. It seems that the applicant is saying that because you can't hear it and you can't see it, for the most part, it's not going to substantially injure adjoining property values. They are asking the Board to just make that conclusion. Nobody who is competent to testify about that is available, so he wants to know where is he supposed to go with that?

Chair Donnelly stated that when he thinks about the Board's roles and responsibilities, it is the burden of the applicant to demonstrate how each of these criteria are satisfied, and he thinks from that perspective, as he thinks about the information they have shared tonight, is that sufficient enough to satisfy all of these conditions? If they are looking at property values, if it's anybody's responsibility, he would see it being the applicant to try to affirm what property values are or are not. He wrestles with that. The second piece that he wrestles with is in the 3<sup>rd</sup> criteria, which is whether something is in harmony with the area in which it is to be located. On one hand, the information that was presented clearly indicates that the substation would seem to have minimal impacts as the information was presented to the Board. He also heard in testimony, that the substation, by itself, is not sufficient to serve the community, and there will be some kind of transmission line that comes into play and while he appreciates that that's not the purview of what the Board is permitting, as he thinks about what that transmission line might include, it is suggested that this would not be in harmony with the neighborhood. It is difficult for him to separate that out as something that is separate, when in fact, the substation cannot operate without that transmission line in place. The third piece that he wrestles with is that if you satisfy the criteria, that's one way to justify a SUP; the other one is to demonstrate the public necessity, and if you look at the package that has been put together and the applicant's information on [criterion] #4, those particular criteria really address whether the use reflects the abutting and adjoining properties. It was only under questioning that they got into the conversation

about necessity, and from his perspective, if this was going to be built on a public necessity, there would be some more substantial data than was presented backing up the level of that necessity.

Ms. Buchanan stated that in her opinion the substation itself does not injure property values, but the transmission lines is her concern.

Rev. Drumwright stated he feels that there is a major lack of transparency concerning Mr. Alston's point earlier on order of the [Duke Energy's] plan, and Mr. Vasquez made it clear in the line of questioning that the transmission lines were a part of the decision-making process.

Mr. Stalder stated that there are questions about impacts on property values and the public necessity of the substation that have not been fully answered, but he also does not feel that Duke would go about building substations that they don't really need.

Mr. Gullick stated that he is a little disappointed about the lack of evidence, just as everyone has stated. He did not see any evidence that it is a public necessity and didn't see any documentation on that as there was not a real estate appraiser to testify, and he agrees with everyone else's comments.

Dr. Bui stated that she is having a problem with the "use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed for development according to the plan submitted." Being a Doctor of Health Science, which she has been a President and CEO for Central Health Care System since 2014, accepting that as evidence is hard when there are not statistics behind it. She has not personally worked on a case that was the result of a power plant affecting health, but she has heard and read of one that was quite big. Everything must be based on statistics when it comes to endangering public health, and if there are no statistics provided, then she wouldn't be able to accept or believe that it would not materially endanger the public health.

An initial motion was made by Mr. Craft to **approve** the request, seconded by Mr. Alston. The Board voted 2-6 to approve the request; the motion to approve failed. (Ayes: Craft and Stalder. Nays: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Drumwright; Alston; Bui; Buchanan.)

Mr. Craft stated that Special Use Permit 23-03-PLBD-00039: Energy Substation (Major Utility); 1872 Andrews Farm Rd. The Guilford County Planning Board, having held an Evidentiary Hearing on April 12, 2023, to consider a request for a Special Use Permit for an Energy Substation (Major Utility) subject to the submitted Sketch Site Plan along with the proposed conditions (no conditions listed) for the property located at 1872 Andrews Farm Road (Guilford County Tax Parcel 229086 in Jefferson Township) at the northwest intersection of McConnell Road, comprises approximately 12.53 acres, having heard all of the evidence and arguments presented at the Evidentiary Hearing, makes the following FINDINGS OF FACTS and draws the following CONCLUSIONS:

- 1. The written application was submitted and **is** complete in all respects.
- 2. The use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and developed according to the plan submitted. This conclusion is based upon sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>The substation will be designed with an 8' tall perimeter fence with protected barbed wire which will prevent unauthorized entry. It will be designed with the latest safety and operational protocols. The</u>

substation has been designed and graded to prevent groundwater contamination and erosion. The substation will not generate toxic or hazardous materials or any air emissions.

- 3. The use of an Energy Substation (Major Utility) for which the Special Use Permit is sought is in conformance with all the special requirements applicable to the use. The use meets all required conditions and specifications. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>The use of an Electric Substation for which the Special Use Permit is sought is in conformance with all requirements as shown in Exhibit 4, the required setbacks have been incorporated in the substation design in accordance with "I. Tree Preservation," in Section 15-56 of the UDO, "any existing tree or group of trees within the required planting area meets or exceeds the Ordinance.</u>
- 4. [That] the location and character [of] the use [if developed according to the plan submitted] will be in harmony [with] the area in which it is [to be] located and is in general conformity with the plan [of development] of [the] Jurisdiction [and its] environs. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>The project is necessary to support the development of the area and to accommodate the future power demands and plan development. Similar uses are, such as, the West River Solar Project recently approved also required a similar special use permit.</u>
- 5. The use **will not** substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, [or] the use is a public necessity. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>Minimal impacts for light and noise of the substation operation and screenings and setbacks and natural buffering minimize any visual impact.</u>

Mr. Craft continued with his motion stating that on the basis of all the foregoing, it is ordered that that the application for a Special Use Permit for an Energy Substation (Major Utility) be granted, subject to the following:

- 1. The development of the parcel shall comply with all regulations as specified in the UDO.
- 2. The development shall proceed in conformity with all admitted plans and design features submitted as part of the special use permit application kept on file with the Guilford County Planning and Development Department.
- 3. The development shall proceed upon approval of plan and design features by the Technical Review Committee illustrating conditions related to the request and applicable development standards.
- 4. If these specified conditions addressed in the special use permit are violated, permit will be revoked, and the use will no longer be allowed. Only by reapplying to the Planning Board for another Special Use Permit and receiving its approval can the use be again permitted.

The motion to approve failed by 6-2 vote. **THEREFORE**, on the basis of all the foregoing, **IT IS ORDERED** that the application for a **SPECIAL USE PERMIT** for an Energy Substation (Major Utility) be **DENIED**.

It was then determined by Atty. Leslie Fite, Guilford County Attorney, that a motion to deny the request would complete the record. Chair Donnelly moved to **deny** the request, seconded by Mr. Gullick, and with a vote of 6-2, the motion to **deny** was passed. (Ayes: Donnelly, Gullick, Drumwright, Alston, Bui, Buchanan. Nays: Stalder and Craft.)

Chair Donnelly stated the following:

- 1. A written application was submitted and **is** complete in all material respects.
- That the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and developed according to the plan submitted. This conclusion is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>The substation has been designed with an 8' tall perimeter fence from the applicant's package on page 8 of 11, C1a through e.</u>

[a. The substation has been designed with an 8-foot-tall perimeter fence with protective 3strand barbed wire extension designed to prevent unauthorized entry and to protect the public from potentially hazardous electrical equipment. The substation has been designed with the latest safety and operational protocols.

<u>b.</u> The substation will reduce power outages and service interruptions experienced by Duke <u>Energy customers.</u>

<u>c. The substation has been designed and graded to prevent groundwater contamination and erosion.</u>

<u>d.</u> The substation will have adequate lighting within its perimeter and associated response procedures that will allow for the detection of potential spills from oil-filled electrical equipment.

e. The substation will not generate toxic or hazardous materials or any air emissions as a result of its operation.]

3. The use, an Energy Substation (Major Utility), for which a special use permit is sought, is in conformance with all special requirements applicable to this use. The use meets all required conditions and specifications. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: <u>Items under the [application] page 8 of 11, C2a and b. are incorporated</u>

[a) The required setbacks described in the applicant package Section V. B, Agricultural District and Code Conformance, have been incorporated into the substation design.

b) According to "I. Tree Preservation," in Section 15-56 of the UDO, "any existing tree or group of trees which stands within or near a required planting area and meets or exceeds the standards of this Ordinance may be used to satisfy the tree requirements of the planting area [this ordinance, referring to Table 6-2-2: Planting Yard Chart]." As demonstrated in Section V.B, the existing trees on the site meet the standards of the UDO and thus satisfy the tree requirements of the planting area.]

4. That the location and character of the use, if developed according to the plan submitted, will not be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located and is not in general conformity with the plan of development of the Jurisdiction and its environs. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: For this particular power substation, it is not able to function without the connection to the larger network through distribution lines, which based on the testimony heard during the hearing, are not in harmony with the area in which the substation will be located and I don't see how those two can be separated.

5. The use will substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, and/or the use is not a public necessity. This is based on sworn testimony and evidence submitted during the Evidentiary Hearing which shows the following: It was a lack of evidence as the reason for denial for both of these areas, and the lack of evidence provided on behalf of the applicant to demonstrate either the value of adjoining properties would not be harmed, or that it is a public necessity in this location as it was described.

**THEREFORE,** on the basis of all the foregoing, **IT IS ORDERED** that the application for a **SPECIAL USE PERMIT** for an Energy Substation (Major Utility) be **DENIED**.

The motion to **deny** was seconded by Mr. Gullick. The Board voted (roll call) 6-2 to **deny** the request. (Ayes: Donnelly, Chair; Gullick, Vice Chair; Drumwright; Alston; Bui; Buchanan. Nays: Craft and Stalder.)

Appeal of a Special Use Permit decision may be filed with the Clerk of Superior Court by the later of (thirty) 30 days after the decision is effective or after a written copy thereof is given in accordance with G.S. 160D-406(j).

## H. Other Business

Mr. Bell stated that the Board is not requested to take any action on the proposed revised Rules of Procedures this evening. He asked that the revisions be on the May Agenda for action. A copy of the proposed changes was provided to the Board for review. Mr. Bell highlighted some of the proposed revisions such as prior revisions (highlighted peach color text) referencing NCGS 160D instead of 153A (which was the previous NCGS section for County Planning and Zoning regulations) and most recent revisions included in this draft (highlighted yellow color text). The Rules of Procedure continues to reference the <u>Guilford County Board of Commissioners' Resolution Establishing Policy and Procedures for Appointments</u>. There also is a change in what was previously referred to as the UNC Institute of Government (now known as the UNC School of Government) as it relates to a suggested School of Government guidance publication - <u>Procedural Rules for Local Appointed Boards</u>. Additionally, under the Officers and Duties section, item #6 is being proposed which reads, "In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall preside. In the absence of both the Chair and the Vice Chair, the members present shall elect a temporary Chair." He touched on some of the other proposed revisions primarily related to meetings where simultaneous communication is used and conflict of interest.

## Comprehensive Plan Update

Mr. Bell stated that the Comprehensive Plan has kicked off, and back in December staff started doing some background and data gathering. Last week was the first Steering Committee meeting, and April 25 is the date selected for the first Citizen Input workshop. There will be press releases, and staff is working with the Public Information Office to get those press releases out. That meeting will be held at the Agricultural Center at 6:00 p.m.

Mr. Craft stated that he had sent an email to the Board members about Piedmont Land Conservancy (which covers the Greater Triad Region) having applied for some money though the non-profit part of the budget for a Countywide Trail and Greenway Plan with all the jurisdictions to get them working together and to set the stage for connecting the cities to the smaller towns in the Triad. He asked that the Board members look at the four-page memo and communicate with the Commissioners about putting that in the budget, which would be a real positive step for Guilford County. Chair Donnelly mentioned that Mr. Bell sent out a notice today about some training that the School of Government is offering for quasi-judicial hearings. He went through a training previously, and it was very helpful. The County covers the costs for this, and there's an option for in-person training in Kernersville or online training, which are coming up in May and June. He invited members to consider attending, as it provides some very helpful perspectives for these conversations and how they are different from the legislative hearings.

## I. Adjourn

Chair Donnelly stated that there being no further business before the Board, the meeting adjourned at 10:12 p.m.

The next scheduled meeting is May 10, 2023, at 6:00 p.m.